
 

Agenda - Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee 
Meeting Venue: 

Committee Room 2 - Senedd 

Meeting date: 13 February 2020 

Meeting time: 09.30

For further information contact: 

Manon George 

Committee Clerk 

0300 200 6565  

SeneddCWLC@assembly.wales
------ 

1 Introductions, apologies, substitutions and declarations of 

interest 

   

2 Inquiry into Music Industry in Wales: Welsh Government 

(09.30-10.30) (Pages 1 - 28)  

Dafydd Elis-Thomas AM, Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism 

Gerwyn Evans, Deputy Director Creative Wales 

3 Paper(s) to note 

   

3.1 Correspondence with the Welsh Language Commissioner: Draft budget 

2020-21 

 (Pages 29 - 33)  

3.2 Correspondence with Arts Council for Wales: Investment Review 

 (Pages 34 - 36)  

3.3 Correspondence with the Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism: 

Draft budget 2020-21 

 (Pages 37 - 43)  

4 Motion under Standing Order 17.42 to resolve to exclude the 

public from the meeting for remainder of the meeting 

(10.30)   

------------------------ Public Document Pack ------------------------



5 Private Debrief 

(10.30-11.00)   



Document is Restricted

Pack Page 1

Agenda Item 2By virtue of paragraph(s) vi of Standing Order 17.42



 
 
 
 

 
 

Aled Roberts 

Welsh Language Commissioner 

 

14 January 2020 

Dear Aled, 

The Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee discussed the 

Welsh Government’s Draft Budget 2020/21 at their meeting on 8 January 

with the Minister for International Relations and the Welsh Language. 

During the meeting we discussed the budget allocations for supporting and 

promoting the Welsh language in general and for your work in particular. 

I would be grateful if you could comment on the Welsh Government’s plans 

for funding Welsh language support, both long term and in the coming year. 

Members of the Committee were concerned that the mainstreaming of 

funding for the language across Ministerial portfolios could lead to a lack of 

transparency in the draft budget, if information on this funding is not made 

available. I wonder if you have any similar concerns? 

The Minister discussed the funding settlement for your office and the 

memorandum of understanding between your organisation and the Welsh 

Government designed to reduce duplication. I would be grateful if you could 

provide views on whether the capital and revenue allocations in the draft 

budget allow your organisation to fulfil its obligations for 2020-21. 

In order to progress our work on the Draft Budget I would be grateful if you 

could reply by 30 January, with apologies for the short deadline.  

Yours sincerely, 

  

Pack Page 29

Agenda Item 3.1



 
 
 
 

 
 

Bethan Sayed 

Chair of the Committee 

 

 

 

Pack Page 30



Aled Roberts 
Comisiynydd y Gymraeg 
Welsh Language Commissioner 
 

 

01/03 

 

 
Dear Bethan 
 
 
Welsh Language Budget 
 
Thank you for your letter dated 16 January asking for my views on the Welsh 
Government’s proposals for funding support for the Welsh language.    
 
You asked two specific questions. First of all my views on the possible lack of 
transparency in the budget if Welsh language funding is mainstreamed across 
Government departments, and also my views on the financial allocation of my office for 
2020-21.    
 
There are currently two main sources of funding for supporting the Welsh language within 
the Government’s overall budget, the ‘Welsh language’ allocation within the International 
Relations and Welsh Language main expenditure group (MEG), and the ‘Welsh in 
Education’ allocation within the Education MEG.  The ‘Welsh language’ allocation is further 
divided into the Welsh Language Commissioner budget expenditure line and the ‘Welsh 
language’ expenditure line under the remit of the Government’s Welsh language division.   
 
I believe that these expenditure lines are open and transparent.  The Government shared 
an evidence paper with the Committee earlier this year, prior to the Minister’s appearance 
before the Committee, explaining how these expenditure lines would be used.  I am also 
accountable for my office’s expenditure line and required to produce an annual financial 
report and appear before the Committee every year for scrutiny.   
 

Bethan Sayed AC 
Chair 
Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee  
National Assembly for Wales 

31 January 2020 

Pack Page 31



 02/03 

 

Scrutiny and monitoring difficulties can arise however when expenditure on the Welsh 
language occurs outside and beyond these specific expenditure lines.  In her evidence to 
the Committee, the Minister referred a number of times to the need to mainstream the 
Welsh language across Government departments.  I agree entirely with the Minister that 
this is an important aim.  The Cymraeg 2050 strategy relates to the Government in its 
entirety, not only to its Welsh language division.   It’s essential therefore that other 
Ministers and departments take their responsibilities toward the Welsh language seriously 
and look for opportunities to promote and develop the Welsh language in their plans and in 
allocating expenditure.    
 
In her evidence, the Minister referred to examples of mainstreaming such as the capital 
expenditure for investing in schools and the Deputy Minister for the Economy’s work 
relating to Welsh and the economy.  In order to improve transparency in the future, it could 
be useful for the Government to consider providing further clarification on large projects 
outside the Welsh language expenditure lines that are expected to contribute towards the 
language and an explanation of the likely expenditure.   
 
The main question that arises from the budget however is the overall level of expenditure 
on the Welsh language.  The Minister has explained that she is required to allocate funds 
in the right areas in order to meet the aims of the Cymraeg 2050 strategy.  That is a 
sensible approach. But there has been no overall increase in Welsh language expenditure, 
so the question arises, is it possible for the Minister and the Welsh Government to achieve 
its ambitious strategy without an increase in the Welsh language allocation.  It appears to 
me that the current level of funding for the Welsh language does not correspond with the 
ambition of Cymraeg 2050 and there’s a risk that a lack of investment could undermine 
efforts to achieve the strategy.   
 
In respect to your second question on the allocation for my office, the draft budget 
allocates two additional sums for 2020-21.  A sum of £50,000 revenue has been allocated 
to support increases in staffing costs and £385,000 capital expenditure has been allocated 
for transforming and upgrading our IT infrastructure.  I welcome this additional funding, but 
as you will be aware, I outlined a very challenging financial picture before the Committee 
last year. A situation whereby posts had to be left unfilled and my financial reserves were 
likely to fall below the target set in policy.  The new capital expenditure for IT will go 
towards upgrading and modernising our infrastructure and systems that have suffered 
through a lack of investment over the years, mainly due to cuts in funding. I expect that 
this will lead to financial savings in the mid to long term.     
 
However, these additional funds will not allow my office to implement the projects that 
were proposed in my annual financial estimate to the Government.  I made proposals for 
additional funding for projects in the following areas:   
- Increasing the use of Welsh language services 
- Using Welsh within the workplace 
- Support for the health and local government sectors  
- Research for policy work and to support my next 5 year report  Pack Page 32



 03/03 

 

- Further support for businesses and charities 
 
Without further funding, it’s unlikely that we’ll be able to implement these projects in 
2020/21.   
 
To summarise, the financial allocation for my office in the draft budget for 2020/21 allows 
me to address the specific areas of increased staff costs and IT infrastructure, but it will 
not allow me to fill all the current vacancies in our staffing structure nor will it allow me to 
invest in new projects that would contribute towards Cymraeg 2050.   
 
Yours sincerely 
 

 
 
 
Aled Roberts 
Welsh Language Commissioner  
 

Pack Page 33



 
 
 
 

 
 

Nick Capaldi 

Chief Executive 

Arts Council for Wales  

 

13 January 2020 

Dear Nick, 

I write in response to the Arts Council’s Investment Review 2020. The 

Culture, Welsh Language and Communications Committee’s report into the 

role of arts and culture in addressing poverty (Count me in!) made several 

recommendations that are pertinent to this review, namely: 

• The Arts Council of Wales should ensure that all members of Arts 

Portfolio Wales (its revenue-funded organisations) work with the 

different communities they serve to design their programme of 

activities. 

• The Welsh Government, via the Arts Council for Wales, should require 

all arts and cultural bodies in receipt of public funding to set out their 

objectives for tackling poverty and social exclusion in their strategic 

plans. Those in receipt of funding should also set out how they intend 

to co-design creative activities and content with these target 

audiences. 

I welcome the positive way that the Arts Council contributed to and 

responded to this piece of work, and that in your response to the report the 

Arts Council agrees with both of these recommendations. I would therefore 

like to see these messages embedded in the investment review 

documentation, including the Planning Guidance.  

As a general point, the Committee would like to see arts organisations who 

are embedded within their communities, and work with them to co-design 

their activities, being foregrounded in this review. This view is supported by 

the evidence we took during the culture and poverty inquiry, which showed 

how organisations that work with local communities from the outset are 

Pack Page 34

Agenda Item 3.2



 
 
 
 

 
 

more likely to engage successfully with these communities in terms of both 

attendance and participation in artistic activities. Such engagement can have 

a transformative impact, including on people in poverty: either helping to lift 

them out of poverty, or ameliorating its impact. You say in the draft Planning 

Guidance, that “reaching out to new audiences is the key headline of this 

Investment Review”, and we think that early engagement with local 

communities is a fundamental way of making this happen. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank you for your productive 

engagement with the Committee’s work in 2019, and wish you every success 

in the New Year. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

  

Bethan Sayed 

Chair of the Committee 

 

 

 

Pack Page 35



Pack Page 36



 
 
 
 

 
 

Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism 

Welsh Government  

17 January 2020 

 

Dear Dafydd, 

Welsh Government Draft Budget 2020/21 

Thank you for attending the meeting of the Culture, Welsh Language and 

Communications Committee on 8 January to discuss the Welsh Government’s 

Draft Budget 2020/21. 

Thank you for agreeing to provide the Committee with further detail on the 

budget and the work of your department. 

Fusion 

You mentioned that the Fusion scheme has recently been reviewed and that 

you will be increasing the funding allocation for it. I would be grateful if you 

could write to the Committee with the outcome of the review and the exact 

amount of funding for Fusion once this has been decided. 

You also said that your department will be prioritising raising participation 

and attendance at cultural and heritage sites in your portfolio. Again, I would 

be grateful if you could include figures on current attendance and 

participation rates and your target figures for the coming year. The 

Committee would like to follow up on this goal as part of our budget 

scrutiny for next year’s budget. 

National Contemporary Art Gallery for Wales & Sports Museum 

I understand that you are expecting to receive business cases for both the 

National Contemporary Art Gallery and the Sports Museum this summer. You 

also said that you will be seeking additional funding in the supplementary 

budget to take forward these projects. 

Pack Page 37

Agenda Item 3.3



 
 
 
 

 
 

Please can you update the Committee on the outcomes of the business 

cases, your bid for funding and when you expect to announce your decision 

on the next steps in each case. 

Appointment of a Commercial Director to the National Museum of Wales 

I would be grateful if you could update the Committee with the progress on 

appointing a Commercial Director to the National Museum for Wales. It 

would be helpful if you could set out the reasons why the appointment has 

not been made sooner. Members noted during the discussion on this topic 

that combining this post with responsibilities across a greater number of 

organisations may mean a higher salary can be offered and may attract a 

greater pool of candidates. 

Funding for film and major television projects 

Please can you outline the value and nature of the projects which have been 

supported by Government funding since the Media Investment Budget (MIB) 

has been paused? Please can you set out how the Welsh Government has 

made information available to applicants for this funding during the pause of 

the MIB? Stakeholders have told the Committee informally that there has 

been a lack of information and publicity about potential Government support 

for projects. 

Can you set out the lessons learnt from the way in which the Media 

Investment Budget was administered which will be carried over to the 

proposed funding mechanism for film and television under Creative Wales? 

Live music venues 

You mentioned that you will be prioritising mechanisms to support live 

music venues and promoters to reduce the financial risk of staging events. 

Please can you provide more details about these proposals? 

Hyperlocal journalism fund 

Pack Page 38



 
 
 
 

 
 

Please can you provide the Committee with the results of the study of the 

outcomes, and whether that money has achieved the desired objectives? 

Please can you let us know if the fund will continue? 

 

In order to progress the work of the Committee, I would be grateful if you 

could respond to these questions by 30 January 2020. 

 

Yours sincerely, 

  

Bethan Sayed 

Chair of the Committee 

 

 

 

Pack Page 39



Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 
Y Dirprwy Weinidog Diwylliant, Chwaraeon a Thwristiaeth 
Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism 

Bae Caerdydd • Cardiff Bay 

Caerdydd • Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

Canolfan Cyswllt Cyntaf / First Point of Contact Centre: 

0300 0604400 

Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru 
Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales 

Rydym yn croesawu derbyn gohebiaeth yn Gymraeg.  Byddwn yn ateb gohebiaeth a dderbynnir yn Gymraeg yn Gymraeg ac ni fydd 

gohebu yn Gymraeg yn arwain at oedi.  

We welcome receiving correspondence in Welsh.  Any correspondence received in Welsh will be answered in Welsh and corresponding 

in Welsh will not lead to a delay in responding.   

05 Febuary 2020 

Ein cyf/Our ref DET/00057/20 

Bethan Sayed AM 
Chair 
Culture, Welsh Language & Communications Committee 
Ty Hywel 
Cardiff Bay 
Cardiff 
CF99 1NA 

Dear Bethan Sayed AM, 

Welsh Government Draft Budget 2020-21 

Thank you for your letter of 17 January asking for further detail on the budget and the work 
of the Culture, Sport and Tourism Directorate, following my attendance at the Committee on 
8 January to discuss the above matter. 

I will answer your questions in the order you have raised them: 

Fusion 

Officials are working on a detailed business plan and a Ministerial statement will be issued 
shortly detailing the level of funding and expectations for the programme, including targets 
for participation, over the coming year.   

In 2018-19, based on feedback from co-ordinators, over ten thousand people participated in 
activity in a range of areas - developing digital skills, volunteering, undergoing work 
experience, improving physical and mental wellbeing, gaining a qualification, or being 
supported in school. 

It is indeed a priority to increase participation and attendance at cultural and heritage sites. 
The number of paying and non-paying visitors to Cadw sites last year was 1.321m people. 
The target for this year is £1.4m. 

Pack Page 40

mailto:Gohebiaeth.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@llyw.cymru
mailto:Correspondence.Dafydd.Elis-Thomas@gov.wales


The Arts Portfolio Wales Survey for 2018/19 (based on the Arts Council of Wales’s portfolio 
of 67 Organisations) indicated that APW Organisations delivered a total of 23,149 arts 
events during the year, generating attendances of 4.2 million; they also ran 72,383 
participatory arts sessions, resulting in 1.1 million participants.  
 
Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales welcomed around 1.9m visitors to their seven 
museums over the year.  In addition, the network of local museums across Wales received 
around 2 million visitors.  Museums continued to offer high quality learning experiences and 
provided over 9,500 formal learning sessions.   
 
National Contemporary Art Gallery for Wales and Sport Museum 
 

Following the budget agreement, we carried out feasibility studies on a new football 
museum and a museum for contemporary art in 2018. Since then, work has continued on 
scoping the most appropriate way forward in both areas. 
 
I issued a Written Statement on 10 May 2019. It proposed investing in Wrexham Museum 
as the home of Welsh football history and investing in a distributed model for delivering 
access to the national collection of contemporary art across Wales. 
 
Positive discussions with Wrexham County Borough Council officials and the agreement of 
their Members, will see Wrexham Museum receive funding to develop exhibition content 
and architectural designs, and prepare a business plan which will be submitted to me in the 
summer. I have currently allocated £445k to the Wrexham Museum project development 
over the next three years. 
 
On contemporary art, a small steering group is leading on the development of a business 
plan to outline investment for delivery of a distributed contemporary art offer across Wales. 
This approach will ensure everyone in Wales has access to our national contemporary art 
collections and will include investment in our existing excellent network of art galleries and 
museums.  The business plan will be submitted to me in the summer. 
 
As part of the preparatory work, Arts Council Wales (ACW) has surveyed existing venues 
across Wales to identify need and potential. ACW is currently doing further work with 
potential venues to quantify requirements, costs and to ensure a good range of venues. 
 
In addition, we will support Amgueddfa Cymru – National Museum Wales to improve the 
storage and digitisation of the National Contemporary Art Collection, ensuring better access 
for the public and galleries across Wales. This will deliver an innovative, inclusive and 
accessible approach to contemporary art in Wales. 
 
I have currently allocated £1.53m to fund this work over the next three years. 
 
Once the business plans for both projects have been submitted, I will make further 
decisions on funding and next steps. 
 
Appointment of a Commercial Director to the National Museum of Wales 
 
The appointment of a Commercial Director at Amgueddfa Cymru was one of the 
recommendations of the Thurley Review.  
 
I recognise that this role could possibly have had benefits for the sector as a whole, but 
currently Amgueddfa Cymru has been unable to appoint a Commercial Director after two 
attempts.  
 

Pack Page 41



At the end of the first recruitment campaign, colleagues at Amgueddfa Cymru approached 
Welsh Government to make the case for an uplift in the salary following feedback from the 
preferred candidate. Welsh Government agreed additional flexibility and the starting salary 
was increased from £90k to £95k, rising to £100k after twelve months. It is important to note 
that this salary is higher than the salaries of all other directors at Amgueddfa Cymru. 
 
A second recruitment campaign started in November, resulting in some promising 
candidates. However, by interview stage in January, several candidates had pulled out of 
the process. Interviews did take place, but none of the remaining candidates were 
appointable. 
 
Directors at Amgueddfa Cymru have maintained regular contact with my officials 
throughout. I understand that the Museum has immediately commissioned an external 
advisor to look at how this role could be re-shaped yet still bring long-term benefits to the 
commercial and fundraising functions of the Museum, and will update me shortly on this. 
 
Funding for film and major television projects 
 

Since August 2018, 11 screen projects have been supported via grant funding up to a value 
of £3.9m, with an anticipated Welsh spend of circa £45m. 
 
There was no formal communication made on the pausing of the Media Investment Budget.  
However the business development teams maintain good working relationships with 
businesses in the industry and we have continued, through these relationships, to promote 
our grant funding support for productions. 
 
As noted in our response to the PAC report, there were a number of lessons learnt from the 
wider relationship with Pinewood, including learning from the differences between the 
operating models needed for film studios in Wales compared to the rest of the UK, how we 
can effectively build in wider benefits to the local economy as well as a commercial return, 
and the speed with which we need to respond to commercial deals.   
 
These lessons have been shared across the Finance and Governance teams in the 
Economy, Skills and Natural Resources (ESNR) Group.  They have also been shared with 
other teams across Welsh Government so, as far as they have a wider application 
compared to specific lessons for managing media interventions, they can be considered for 
any new and existing schemes. 
 
The Creative Wales team has taken these lessons into consideration when designing the 
new funding programmes aimed at the sector that will be announced as part of the launch 
of Creative Wales on the 29 January. 
 
Live music venues 
 
Details of our proposal to support grassroots live music venues will be announced as part of 
the launch of Creative Wales on the 29 January. This proposal does not currently include 
support for promoters related to the financial risk of staging events.  
 
Wider proposals to support the music industry will be developed in response to feedback 
through industry engagement and evidence of requirement. Should this evidence indicate 
that government intervention is needed to support promoters, this will be considered further. 
 
 
 
 

Pack Page 42



Hyperlocal journalism fund 
 

A small independent study will be commissioned very soon to evaluate the impact of the 
Independent Community Journalism Fund.  We expect the results and lessons learnt to be 
available in May. Following the evaluation, consideration will be made on the need for a 
future fund, and if recommended this would be subject to funds being available.  
 
I hope you will find this helpful. 
 
Yours sincerely, 

 
 
Yr Arglwydd Elis-Thomas AC/AM 

Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism 

Pack Page 43


	Agenda
	2 Inquiry into Music Industry in Wales: Welsh Government
	3.1 Correspondence with the Welsh Language Commissioner: Draft budget 2020-21
	2020 01 14 Chair to Welsh Language commissioner re WG Draft Budget
	2020 01 30 Welsh Language Commissioner to Chair re WG Draft Budget

	3.2 Correspondence with Arts Council for Wales: Investment Review
	2020 01 13 Chair to Arts Council for Wales re Inverstment Review
	2020 01 14 Arts Council of Wales to Chair re Investment Review

	3.3 Correspondence with the Deputy Minister for Culture, Sport and Tourism: Draft budget 2020-21
	2020 01 14 Chair to Deputy Minister for Culture re WG Draft Budget
	2020 02 05 Letter from DET to Chair re Draft Budget


